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WHEREAS, Plaintiff United States of America, on beha lf of the United States 

Environmental Protection Agency (" EPA"), has filed a Complaint in this action on September 

30. 20 J0, alleging that Defendants Cohee Industries, Inc. (referre d to herein as " FME" after 

Fairbanks Morse Engine Division, the Co ltec division involved) and National Steel and 

Shipbuilding Compa ny ("NASSCO") (collectively referred to herein as " Defendants") violated 

Section 213 of the Clean Air Act, as amended ("CAA" or "Act"), 42 U.S.C. § 7547, and EPA 

regulations promulgated thereunder that are applicable to marine compression-ignition ("CI") 

engines and codified at 40 C.F .R. Part 94 (the "Marine CI Engine Rules"), pertaining to 

emissions certification and labe ling requ irements for new marine engines and new marine 

vessels. 

WHEREAS, regarding Defendant FME. the Complaint alleges that from July 2004 to 

June 2008, FME manufactured and sold to NASSCO thirty-two model FM-MAN 48/60 

Catego ry 3 marine CI engines that were not covered by El'Avissued certificates of conformity 

and that did not have affixed to each engine the requ isite emissions information labels or tags. in 

violation of Section 213 of the Act. 42 U.S.C. § 7547, and the Marine CI Engine Rules. 

Additionally, the Complaint alleges that FME manufactured and sold to NASSCO eight 

additional model year 2008 and 2009 FM ~MAN 48/60 engines that, though covered by 

cert ificates of conformity. bore noncompliant emissions information labels, also in violation of 

Section 213 of the Act. 42 U.S.C. § 7547, and the Marine CI Engine Rules. 

WHEREAS, regard ing Defendant NASSCO, the Complaint alleges that NASSCO 

purchased from FME thirty-two model FM-MAN 48/60 Category 3 marine CI engines that were 

not covered by El'Aviss ued certificates of conform ity and that were not labeled with the requisite 

information labels or tags. subsequently using these engines to manu facture eight T-AKE class 



vessels that NASSCO so ld to the United States Navy ("U.S. Navy") , in violation of Section 213 

of the Act, 42 U.S.c. § 7547, and the Marine CI Engine Rules. The Complaint also alleges the 

fo llowing additional violations of Section 2 13 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7547, and the Mar ine CI 

Engine Rules: that NASSCO manufactured and sold to BP p.l.c . a new mar ine vessel using four 

mode l6L 48/50 marine CI engines manufactured by MAN B&W Diesel A.G ., a Germa n 

company, that likewise were not covered by EPA-issued certifi cates of conform ity; that 

NASSCO manufactu red and sold to the U.S. Navy one of the T-AK E vessels using an 

emergency generator engine manu factured by Caterpillar Inc. tha t was certified using outdated 

and incorrect emi ssions standards; and that NASSCO manufactured and sold to U.S. Shipping 

Partners, L.P . a new marine vessel using an emergency generator engine manu factured by 

Cummins, Inc. that was not covered by an EPA- issued cert ificate of conform ity. 

WHE REAS, Defendants do not admit any liabil ity to the United States ar ising out of the 

transactions or occu rrences alleged in the Complaint. 

WHEREAS, the Parties recognize, and the Court by entering this Consent Decree finds, 

that this Consent Decree has been negoti ated by the Parties in good faith and will avo id litigation 

among the Part ies and that this Consent Dec ree is fair, reasonable, and in the publi c interest. 

NOW, TH EREFOR E, before the taki ng of any test imony, without the adjudication or 

admission of any issue o f fact or law except as provided in Section I, and with the consent of the 

Parties, IT IS IIEREBY ADJUDGED, ORDERED, AND DECREED as fo llows: 

I. JURISDICTION AND VENU E 

J. Th is Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of, and the part ies to, this 

action, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 133 1, J345, and 1355, and Sect ion 2 13 of the Act, 42 U.s.c. 

§ 7547 , and the regulations promulgated thereunder at 40 C.F.R. §§ 94. 1105(a) and 
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94.1106(b)(I ). Venue lies in this District pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 94.1106(b)( I) because this 

Distr ict is the locat ion of "the Administrator' s principal place of business." For purposes of this 

Decree. or any action to enforce this Decree, Defendants consent to the Court 'sjurisdiction over 

this Decree and any such action and over Defendants and agree that venue in this District is 

proper. 

2. For purposes of this Consent Decree, Defendants agree that the Complaint states 

claims upon which relief may be granted pursuant to Section 213 of the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.c. 

§ 7547, and the Marine CI Engine Rules at 40 C.F.R. Part 94. 

II. AP PLICAB ILITY 

3. The obligations of this Consent Decree apply to and are binding upon the United 

States and upon Defendants and each Defendant' s successors, assigns, or other entities or 

persons otherwise bound by law. 

4. Defendants shall each provide a copy of this Consent Decree to their respective 

officers, employees, and agents whose duties might reasonably include compliance with any 

provision of this Decree, as well as to any contractor(s) retained to perform work required under 

this Consent Decree. Each Defendant shall condition any such contract upon performance of the 

work in conformity with the terms of this Consent Decree. 

5. In any action to enforce this Consent Decree, Defendants shall not raise as a 

defense the failure by any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, or contractors to take any 

actions necessary to comply with the provisions of this Consent Decree. 

III. DEFIN ITIONS 

6. Unless specifically defined in this Section or elsewhere in this Consent Decree, 

terms used in this Consent Decree shall have the meanings currently set forth in Sections 202, 
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2 16 and 302 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 752 1, 7550, and 7602, and the regulations promulgated 

under Title II of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 752 1-7590. Whenever the terms set forth below are used 

in this Consent Decree, the following definitions shall apply: 

a.	 "Ac t" means the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 740 1 et seq .; 

b.	 " Beloit Facility" means Defendant FME' s engine manufacturin g facility located 

at 70 I White Avenue in Beloit, Wisconsin; 

c.	 "Certificate of Conformity" means a certificate issued by EPA, pursuant to 

Section 206 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7525, and 40 C.F.R, § 94,208, that confirms 

an Engine Family meets all requirements of the Act for a specific Mode l Year, as 

those terms are defined in 40 C.F.R. § 94.2; 

d.	 "Complaint" means the complaint filed by the United States in this action; 

e.	 "Co nsent Decree " or " Decree" means this Decree, includ ing all appendices 

attached hereto; 

f.	 "Claims Resolution Costs" means any and all penalties paid by Defendants 

pursuant to Section IV (Civil Pena lty) and Section IX (Stipulated Penalties) of 

this Consent Decree together with the SEP costs expended by Defendants 

pursuant to Section VI (Supplemental Environmental Project) of this Consent 

Decree and any of Defendants' attorneys fees; 

g.	 " Day" means a calendar day unless expressly stated to be a business day, In 

comp uting any per iod oft ime under this Consent Decree, where the last day 

would fall on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday, the period shall run until the 

close of business of the next business day; 

h.	 " Defendants" means FME and NAS SCO; 
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I. "Effective date" has the definition provided in Section XVI (Effective Date); 

J.	 "E PA" means the United States Environmental Protection Agency and any of its 

successor departments or agencies; 

k.	 "Federal Contract" means any prime contract, subcontract, or other agreement 

transferring value directly or indirectly between Defendants (and their 

predecessors, successors, assigns, subsidiaries, parent companies, affiliates, 

designees, and all related entities) and a department, agency, or instrumentality of 

the United States Government, including but not limited to, contracts for goods or 

services, grants, and cooperative agreements, regardless of whether the Defendant 

is a prime contractor or subcontractor; 

I.	 "FME" means Defendant Cohee Industries, Inc.; 

m.	 "FME' s Beloit Facility Operating Permit" means FME' s Air Pollut ion Control 

Operation Permit, permit number l54002970· P10, issued by the Wisconsin 

Departme nt Of Natural Resources and applicable to the Beloit Facility, which was 

issued on May 13, 2005, and retains its status as an "active" permit by way of 

FME' s timely and complete application for renewal of the permit prior to its 

stated May 13, 2010 expiration date; 

n.	 "Interest" means interest at the rate allowed on money judgments pursuant to 28 

U.S.c. § 196 1. For the purposes of calculating interest under Paragraph 70f this 

Consent Decree, interest shall begin to accrue on the date this Consent Decree is 

lodged with the Court, and such date shall be viewed as the "date of the entry of 

judgment" under 28 U.S.C. § 1961(a). For the purposes of calculating interest 

owed under Paragraphs 38 and 40 of this Consent Decree, interest shall begin to 
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accrue on the date that EPA sends a demand for payment of stipulated penalties 

under Paragraph 36 of the Consent Decree and such date shall be viewed as the 

"date of entry ofjudgment" under 28 U.S.C. § 1961(a); 

o.	 "Marine CI Engine Rules" means the regulations promulgated under Section 213 

of the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7547, that are applicable to marine 

compression-ignition engines and codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 94; 

p.	 "NASSCO" means Defendant National Steel and Shipbuilding Company; 

q.	 "NOx" shall mean oxides of nitrogen; 

r.	 "Paragraph" means a portion of this Decree identified by an Arabic numeral; 

s.	 "Parties" means the United States and Defendants; 

t.	 "SCR" or "Selective Catalytic Reduction" shall mean an emissions control 

system for NOx that converts NO;.: to Nitrogen and water using a reducing agent 

(typically urea) within a catalyst system; 

u.	 "Section" means a portion of this Decree identified by a roman numeral; 

v.	 "United States" means the United States of America, acting on behalf of EPA; 

w.	 "United States Government" means, without limitation, any department, agency, 

or instrumentality of the federal government of the United States of America. 

x.	 "U.S. Navy" means the United States Navy. 

IV. CIVIL PENALTY 

7. Within 30 Days after the Effective Date of this Consent Decree, Defendants shall 

pay the sum of $280,000 as a civil penalty, together with Interest as of the date of lodging. 

8. Defendants shall pay the c ivil penalty due by FedWire Electronic Funds Transfer 

("EFT" ) to the U.S. Department of Justice in accordance with written instructions to be provided 
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to Defendants, following entry of the Consent Decree, by the Financial Litigation Unit of the 

U.S. Attorney ' s Office for the District of Columbia. At the time of payment, each Defendant 

shall send a copy of the EFT authorization form and the EFT transaction record, together with a 

transmittal letter, which shall state that the paymen t is for the civ il penalty owed pursuant to the 

Consent Decree in United States v. Cohec Industries. Inc.. et aI., and shall reference the civil 

act ion number, I :10-cv-0 1659-ABJ, and DOJ case number, 90-5-2-1-09942, to the United States 

in accordance with Sect ion XV of this Decree (Notices ); by emai l to 

acctsreceivable.CINWDuvepa.gov; and by mail to: 

EPA Cincinnati Finance Office 
26 Mart in Luther King Drive 
Cincinnati, Ohio 45268 

9. Defendants shall not deduct any pena lties paid under this Decree pursuant to this 

Section or Sect ion IX (St ipulated Penalties) in calcu lating their respective federal income taxes. 

10. The penalt ies paid pursuant to this Section and Section IX (Stipulated Penalties) 

are unallowable costs pursuant to 48 C.F.R. § 3 1.205-47 and related provisions for purposes of 

Federa l Contracts. 

v.COM PLIANC E REOU IREMENTS 

II. It is the exp ress purpose of the Parties in entering into this Consent Decree to 

further the goals of the CAA. Defendant FME shall conduct its new marine engine 

manufacturing operations in compliance with the engine certification and labeling provisions of 

the Mar ine CI Engine Rules, absent a va lid exclusion or exemption from any such requirements 

pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 94 Subpart J, and Defendant NASSCO shall conduct its new marine 

vessel manufactur ing operations using marine engines that are properly certified and labeled as 
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required by the Marine CI Engine Rules. absent a val id exclusion or exe mptio n from any such 

requirements pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 94 Sub part J. 

12. Engine Labeling. 

a. Regarding the thi rty-two model FM- MAN 48/60 Category 3 

mar ine Cl engines at issue in the Complaint and listed in Table I in th is subparagraph, which 

FME manufactured and sold to NASSCO, De fendants shall, upon s igning o f this Decree, treat 

such engines as i f they we re cert ified and subject to 40 C.F.R. Part 94. Defendant NASSCO 

shall comply with the maintena nce, repair, adju stment, and recordkeeping requirements 

app licab le to vessel man ufacturers, owners. and operators at 40 C.F.R. § 94. 1004. De fendant 

FME shall comply with the record keep ing provisions of 40 C.F.R. § 94 .2 15, the emission-re lated 

defect reporting requirements and voluntary emission reca ll program com ponents of 40 C.F.R. § 

94.401 - 94.408. the recall regu lations at 40 C.F.R. § 94 .70 I - 94.703. the warra nty requ irements 

imposed by 40 C.F .R. § 94 .1107 , and the in-u se compliance prov isions of 40 C.F.R. § 94.1108. 

Pursuant to the procedu res and time period set forth in subparagraph c, below, Defendan ts shall 

apply to each such engine a label complying with the informati on contained in and the format of 

Appendix A, attached hereto, in the manner othe rwise requ ired at the point of original 

manufact ure as set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 94 .2 12(b). 

Table 1: Th irty-Two Uncert ified Fl\IE Ena ines 
En gin e 
Manufacturer 

Eng ine Mod el # Eng ine Ser ia l # Model 
Year 

FME FM-MAN B&W 48/60 M04-939863R8L J 2004 
M04 -939863R9L J 2004 
M04-939863R9L2 2004 
M04-939863 R8L2 2004 
M04-939870R8L J 2005 
M04-939870R9LJ 2005 
M04-939870R9L 2 200 5 
M04- 9398 70R 8L2 200 5 
M04 -9398 72R8L J 200 5 
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M04-939872R9L I 2005 
M04-939872R9L2 2005 
M04-939872R8L2 2005 
M04-939874R8 L I 2006 
M04-939874R9L I 2006 
M04-939874R9L2 2006 
M04-939874R8L2 2006 
M04-939876R8L1 2006 
M04-939876R9L1 2007 
M04-939876R9L2 2007 
M04-939876R8 L2 2007 
M04-939877R8Ll 2007 
M04-939877R9L1 2007 
M04-939877R9L2 2007 
M04-939877R8L2 2007 
M04-93988 IR8L1 2007 
M04-93988 IR9L1 2007 
M04-93988 1R9L2 2008 
M04-93988 IR8L2 2007 
M04-939882R8L I 2008 
M04-939882R9L1 2008 
M04-9398 82R8L2 2008 
M04-939882R9L2 2008 

b. Regarding the eight additional model FM-MAN 48/60 Category 3 

marine CI engines at issue in the Complaint and listed in Table 2 in thi s subparagraph. which 

FM E manufactured and sold 10 NASSCO, Defendants shall replace the labels currently affixed to 

such engines with a label complying with the information contained in and the format of 

Appendix B, attached hereto. in the manner otherwise required at the point of original 

manufacture as set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 94.2 I2(b). Defendants shall replace such labels pursuant 

to the procedures and liming set forth in subparagraph c. below. 

Ta ble 2: Eieht Additio nal FM E Enaines 
Engine 
ylanufact urer 

Engine Model # Engine Serial # Model 
Year 

FME FM-MAN B&W 48/60 M04-939893R8L1 2008 
M04-939893R9L1 2008 
M04-939893R9L2 2008 
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M04-939893R 8L2 2008 
M04-939896R 8L I 20 09 
M04-9398 96R9L 1 20 09 
M04-939896R9L2 2009 
M04-939896R8 L2 2009 

c. The engines listed in Ta bles I and 2 of this Paragraph are insta lled 

in a series of T-AKE class vesse ls owned by the U.S. Navy. Defendants shall ap ply the requisite 

label to each eng ine listed in Ta ble I or 2 of th is Paragraph within 18 months aft er the Effective 

Date of this Decree by following the proced ures set forth in this subparagraph and subject to the 

U.S. Navy making these ships and engines ava ilable to Defendant s within that time frame. If the 

U.S. Navy does not make these ships and engi nes available to Defendants within the 18 month 

t ime fram e set forth in th is sub paragraph either at any port when and where Defendants arc 

otherwise contracted by the U.S. Navy to perform wo rk or other ma intenance on these engines or 

T-A KE vessels, or , a lte rnatively, at any time within the U.S. Navy 's discretion in San Diego, 

Ca lifornia, or No rfo lk, Virginia, regardless of Defendants ' other obligations, Defendants may 

claim such as a force majeure event in accordance w ith Sec tion X (Force Majeure) of th is 

Decree. 

i. Within 30 Days aft er the Effective Date of this Consent 

Decree, Defe ndants shall submit to United States via electronic transmission, as prov ided in 

Sect ion XV (Notices), a lette r to the attent ion of the U.S . Navy that references this Consent 

Decree, by civ il action number , I: IO-cv-OI659-A BJ, and DOJ case number, 90 ~5-2- I-09942 , and 

that states Defendants ' ob ligation to apply labels to these eng ines . In th is letter Defendants shall 

request permission to ga in access to each of the T~AK E vesse ls co nta ining any eng ines listed in 

Table 1 or 2 of this Paragraph to allow Defendants to ap ply the labels requ ired under this Decre e. 

The request shall spec ify the contact informat ion that the United States, on beha lfof the U.S. 
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Navy , should use in responding to the request by oral correspondence or electronic transmission; 

ifno contact information is provided, the United States will respond to Defendants via electronic 

transmission as provided in Section XV (Notices). Defendants shall request that the United 

States respond to this request within 30 Days in order to establish a proced ure for notification 

and scheduling availability of these T~AKE vessels for engine labeling at one or more of the 

labeling locations provided for under this Paragraph . 

ii . The U.S. Navy has exclus ive discretion to determin e the 

dates when and locations where a T-AK E vesse l containing an engine listed in Table J or 2 of 

this Paragraph could be made available for labelin g. The U.S. Navy wi ll work with Defendants 

to estab lish a mutua lly agreeable schedule and procedure for Defendants to perform the requisite 

labelin g of these engines as specified under this subparagraph; in any event, prov ided the U.S. 

Navy make s the subject engines available to Defendants within the 18 month time frame and at 

one or more of the locations provided for under this subparagraph, Defendant s shall perform the 

requis ite labeling of eac h of the engines in Tables I and 2 on the T-A KE vesse ls within the 

schedule established by this Paragraph. 

iii. Defendants shall report the status of the engine labeling 

efforts to EPA as required under Paragraph 25 of this Consent Decree. 

VI. SUPPLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECT 

13. Defendants sha ll implement a Supplemental Environmental Project ("SEP"), the 

Colt -Pielstick PA6B Marine Diesel Engine Test Stand SCR Project, in acco rdance with all 

provisions of Appendix C of this Consent Decree. The SEP shall be completed in phases in 

accordance with and pursuant to the schedule set forth in Appendix C. The SEP shall reduce 

NOx emissions, at a rate of at least 85% emiss ions reduction, as demonstrated by the procedure 
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described in Appendix C, Paragraph ll .b.vi, by installing add-on air pollution cont rols, including 

5CR, to the exhaust stack identified as 521F at process P20121 (OP Building) under Wisconsin 

Department of Natural Resources permit number I54002970-P I0 and connected to one test stand 

at FME' s Beloit Facility (the "Engine Test Stand"). The Engine Test Stand is used for the 

testing of Cclt-Piclstick PA6B marine diesel engines (" PA6B Engines") manufactured and sold 

for use in U.S. Navy ships. The SEP is intended to yield environmental and public health 

benefits. 

14. Defendants are responsible for the Satisfactory Complet ion of the SEP in 

accordance with the requirements of Append ix C of this Decree. 

15. With regard to the SEP, Defendants certify the truth and accuracy of each of the 

following: 

a. that all cost information provided to EPA by Defendants in connection 

with EPA's preliminary review of the SEP is complete and accurate and that Defendants estimate 

that the cost to implement the SEP is $500 ,000 in Eligible SEP Costs, as defined in Appendix C. 

b. that, as of the date of executing this Decree, Defendants are not required to 

perform or develop the SEP by any federal , state, or local law or regulation and are not required 

to perform or develop the SEP by agreement, grant, or as injunctive relief awarded in any other 

action in any forum; 

c. that the SEP is not a project that Defendants were planning or intending to 

construct, perform, or implement other than in settlement of the cla ims resolved in this Decree; 

d. that neither Defendant has received or will receive credit for the SEP in 

any other enforcement action; 
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e. that neither Defendant will receive any reimbursement for any portion of 

the SEP from any other person; and 

f. that neither Defenda nt is a party to any open federal financial assistance 

transaction that is funding or could be used to fund the same act ivity as the SEP. Also that, to 

the best of each Defendant's knowledge and belief after reasonable inquiry, there is no such open 

federal financial transaction that is funding or could be used to fund the same activity as the SEP, 

nor has the same act ivity been described in an unsuccessful federal financial assistance 

transaction proposal submitted to EPA with in two years of the date of this settlement (unless the 

project was barred from funding as statutorily ineligible). For the purposes of the certification 

required by this subparagraph, the term "open federal financia l assistance transaction" refers to a 

grant, cooperative agreement, loan, federa lly-guaranteed loan guarantee or other mechanism for 

providing federa l financial assistance whose performance period has not yet exp ired. 

16. SEP Reports. 

a. Defendants shall submit to EPA the Phase I SEP Completion Report, the 

Phase II SEP Completion Report, and the Phase III SEP Complet ion Report , as required under 

Section IV of Appendix C, as we ll as the Annual SEP Reports and Final SEP Report, as required 

under Section V of Appendix C, in accordance with Section XV of this Consent Decree 

(Notices). 

b. After receiving the Phase III SEP Completion Report and addit ional 

requested information pursuant to Appendix C, if any, the United States shall notify Defendants 

whether or not Defendants have satisfied the phased SEP requirements of Appendix C. After 

receiving the Final SEP Report, EPA will notify Defendants whether or not Defendants have 

achieved Satisfactory Completion of the SEP under Appendix C. If Defendants have not 
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completed the SEP in accordance with this Consent Decree, stipulated penalties may be assessed 

under Sect ion IX of this Consent Decree (Stipu lated Penalties). 

17. Disputes concerning the satisfactory performance of the SEP and the amount of 

Eligible SEP Costs may be resolved under Section XI of this Decree (Dispute Resolution). No 

other disputes arising under this Section shall be subject to Dispute Resolut ion. 

18. Each submission required under this Section shall be signed by an offic ial with 

knowledge of the SEP and shall bear the certification language set forth in Paragraph 30. 

19. Any public statement, oral or written, in print, film, or other media, made by 

Defendants making reference to the SEP under this Decree shall include the following language: 

"This project was undertaken in connection with the settlement of an enforcement act ion, United 

States v. Cohec Industries. Inc. et aI. , taken on behalf of the U.S. Environmental Protection 

Agency under the Clean Air Act." 

20. For federal income tax purposes, Defendants agree that they will neither capita lize 

into inventory or basis nor deduct any costs or expenditures incurred in perform ing the SEP. 

2 1. Defendants shall not use or rely on emissions reductions generated as a part of the 

SEP implemented pursuant to this Consent Decree, as described in Sect ion VI of this Consent 

Decree (Supplemental Environmental Project), in any federal or state emissions averaging, 

banking, trading, netting, cred it, or offset progra m; and Defendants shall not use such reductions 

in any other emissions compl iance program at any time prior to the date five years after the date 

that the SCR achieves Fully Operationa l SCR Status, as that term is defined in Appendix C to 

this Consent Decree. Nothing in this Consent Decree changes or modifies the responsibilities, 

obligations, or rights of Defendant FME under EPA and the Wisconsin Department ofNatural 

Resources air perm itting regulations and the requirements of the Beloit Faci lity Operating Air 
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Permit. Th is Consent Decree does not limit the Defendant from makin g modi fications and 

emissions improvements to other test stands that are part of process P20/21 (other than the PA6B 

Engine Test Stand subj ect to this SEP, described in Appendix C) and takin g cred it for such lower 

em issions to increase the fuel usage limit for process P20/2 1 subject to the air permitting 

regul ations of the Wisconsin Department of Natura l Resources and EPA as they may otherwise 

apply. 

22. During the effective per iod of the current FME Beloit Facili ty Operating Permit, 

and any subsequent renewa l of the Facility Operating Permit resultin g from the November 12, 

2009 air permit app lication, Defendant FME shall not modify or otherwise apply for any change 

to the maximum annual fuel usage limitations for Process P20/21 based on the NO" emissions 

reductions achieved for the Engine Test Stand under the SEP required by this Consent Decree. 

VII. CLAIMS RESOLUTION COSTS ARE UNALLOWABLE COSTS
 
IN GO VERNMENT CONTRACTS
 

23.	 Cove nant with Respect to Government Contracts. 

a. The United States and Defendants hereby agree that Claims Resolution 

Costs are expressly una llowab le costs pursuant to 48 C.F.R. §§ 3 1.20 1,42.709-1 , 52.242-3, and 

related provisions for the purposes of Federal Contracts . Accordingly, Defendants, on behalf of 

themselves, their subs idiaries, office rs. directors, agents, employees, subcontractors and/or 

successo rs in interest, will not seek or claim these costs as an allowable direct or indirect cost in 

any Federal Contract. 

b. Defendants hereby certify that they have not sought reimbursement of any 

of C laims Resolution Costs in any completed or pending Federal Contract. 

24. Cove nant Not to Accept Reimbursement of Costs . Neither Defendant will seek or 

accept from any person, includ ing without limitati on the United States Government, cash or in ­

15
 



kind reimbursement , contribut ion, or indemnificat ion for any or all Claims Resolution Co sts; 

provided , however, this paragraph does not prohibi t, address or limit ag reements between 

Defendant s respecting payment of Claims Resolution Costs. 

VIII . REPORTING REQUIR EMENTS 

25. No later than January 3 1, 20 13, and thereafter no later than January 3 1 of eac h 

subsequent year until termin ation of this Decree pursuant to Section XIX of thi s Decree 

(Terminat ion) Defendant s shall submit a report in writing to EPA for the preceding year (the 

"Repo rt ing Per iod") that sha ll include: 

a. the status of Defendants' efforts to label the thirt y-two model FM-MAN 

48 /60 Category 3 engines at issue in the Complaint, and listed in Table I in Paragraph 12 of this 

Decree, in the manner set forth in Paragraph 12, includ ing a list of engines to which labels were 

affixed durin g the Report ing Period; 

b. the stat us of Defe ndants ' efforts to label the eight additional model FM­

MAN 48/60 Catego ry 3 engines at issue in the Co mp laint, and listed in Tab le 2 in Paragraph 12 

of th is Decree, in the manner set forth in Paragraph 12, includ ing a list of engines to which labe ls 

were affixed during the Reporti ng Per iod ; 

c. the Annua l SEP Reports required under Section V of Append ix C of this 

Co nsent Decree, if ap plicable for the Reporting Period . 

26. At the required time, Defendants shall submit the Phase I SEP Complet ion 

Report, Phase II SEP Compl etion Report, the Phase III SEP Completion Report , and the Final 

SEP Report, pursuant to Appendi x C of this Decree. 

27. If either Defendant violates, or has reason to bel ieve that it may violate, any 

requirement of this Consent Decree , such Defendant shall submit a repo rt in writing to the 
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United States, notifying the United States of such violation and its likely duration, within 10 

Days ofthc Day that such report ing Defendant first becomes aware of the violation. Such 

Defendant' s report sha ll include an explanation of the violation' s likely cause and of the 

remedia l steps taken, or to be taken, to prevent or minimize such violation. If the cause of a 

violation cannot be fully explained at the time the report is due, the report ing Defendant shall so 

state in the report. The report ing Defendant shall invest igate the cause of the violat ion and shall 

then submit an amendment to the report, including a full explanation of the cause of the 

violation, within 30 Days of the Day that either Defendant becomes aware of the cause of the 

violation. Where both Defendants violate, or have reason to believe that they may violate, the 

same requirement of this Consent Decree, Defendants may submit a joint report in the manner 

otherwise specified under this Paragraph . Nothing in this Paragraph or the following Paragraph 

relieves Defendants of their obligation to provide the notice required by Sect ion X of this 

Consent Decree (Force Majeure). 

28. Whenever any violation of this Consent Decree or any other event affecting 

Defendants' performance under this Decree may pose an immediate threat to the public health or 

welfare or the environment, Defendants shall jointly notify the United States orally or by 

electron ic transmission, as provided in Section XV (Notices), as soon as possible, but no later 

than 24 hours after either Defendant first knew of the violation or event. This procedure is in 

addition to the requirements set forth in the preceding Paragraph. 

29. All reports required pursuant to Paragraph 25 and 26 of this Consent Decree shall 

be submitted to EPA. All reports required pursuant to Paragraphs 27 and 28 of this Consent 

Decree shall be submitted to the United States. All reports shall be submitted to the persons 

designated in Section XV of this Consent Decree (Notices). 
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30. Each rep ort submitted by any Defendant or both Defendant s under th is Sec tion 

shal l be signed by an officia l of the Defendant or Defend ants acting as the submitt ing party and 

include the following certificat ion: 

I certify under penalt y of law that this document and a ll attac hments were 
prepared und er my dir ection or supervision in acco rda nce w ith a system 
designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate 
the information su bm itted. Based on my inqu iry of the person or persons 
who manage the system, or those person s dir ectly responsible for 
gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete . I am aware that there 
are significant pena lties for subm itting fa lse information, including the 
possibili ty of fine and impr isonment for knowing violat ions. 

Th is ce rt ifica tion requirement does not apply to emergency or s im ila r not ificat ions where 

co mpl iance wo uld be impractical. 

31 . T he report ing requirements of th is Conse nt Decree do not re lieve Defe ndants of 

any reporting ob ligations requi red by the Clean Air Act or implementing regulatio ns, or by any 

ot her fede ral, state, or local law, regulation , permit, or other req uirement. 

32. Any information provid ed pursuant to this Conse nt Decree may be used by the 

United States in any proceed ing to enfo rce the prov isions of th is Consent Decree and as 

otherwise permitted by law. 

IX. STIPULATED PENALTIES 

33. Defendants shall be liab le for stipulated penalti es to the United Stat es for 

violation s of this Consent Decree as specified below, unless exc used und er Section X (Force 

Majeure). A violation includes fail ing to perform any obligation required by the terms of th is 

Decree, includ ing any work or schedule approved under thi s Decree, accord ing to all applicable 

require ments of this Decree and w ithin the specified time schedules established by or approved 

under this Decree. 

18 



34. The following stipulated penalties shall apply as provided below: 

a. Late Payment of Civil Penalty. If Defendants fail to pay the civ il penalty 

required to be pa id under Section IV of this Decree (Civil Penalty) when due, Defendants shall 

pay a st ipulated pena lty of $ 1,000 per Day for each Day that the payment is late. 

b. Compliance Milestones. If Defendants fai l to affi x labels in the manner 

descr ibed in Paragraph 12 and required under Section V of this Decree (Compliance 

Requirements), Defendants shall pay a stipulated penalty of $500 per engine per Day of 

violation. 

c. Report ing Requ irements. If Defendants fail to abide by the report ing 

requirements set forth in Paragraph 25 of Section VIII of th is Decree (Reporting Requirements), 

Defendants shall pay the followi ng stipulated penalties for each Day for which they fail to meet 

the requ isite report ing requirements: 

Penalty per Violation per Day Period of Noncompliance 
$ 100 Ist through 29th Day 
$ 250 30th through 59th Day 
$ 500 so" Day and beyond 

d. SEP Compliance. 

I. If Defendants fail to : (I ) perform the activit ies required by Phase I, 

Phase II, or Phase III of the SEP, in acc ordance with Appendix C of th is Consent Decree ; (2) 

submit any SEP Co mpletion Report for any corresponding phase of the SEP or submit the Fina l 

SEP Report within the time frames estab lished under Append ix C and as set forth in Paragraph 

26 Section VIII of th is Decree (Reporting Requirement s); (3) operate the SCR for the minimum 

time period required by Append ix C of this Consent Dec ree, or (4) otherwise meet the 

requirements set forth in Sect ion VI of Appendix C ("Sat isfactory Completion Requirements") of 
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this Consent Decree, Defendants shall pay the following stipulated pena lties for each Day for 

which they fail to meet any such requirement: 

Penalty per Violatio n per Day Period ofNoncompli ance
 
$ 200 Ist through 29th Day
 
$ 400 30th through 59th Day
 
$ 600 so" Day and beyond
 

ii. If Defendants fail to implement the SEP altogether, or halt or 

abandon wor k on the SEP, Defendants shall pay a stipulated penalty of $700,000, less any 

amount paid in stipulated penalties pursuant to the immediately preceding subparagraph d(i) . 

35. Excep t as prov ided in subparagra ph 34(d)( ii), stipulated pena lties under this 

Section shall app ly per Day and shall automat ically begin to acc rue on the first Day Defendants 

fail to satisfy any obligation or requ irement of this Consent Decree and shall con tinue to accrue 

until the violation or deficiency is corrected . Stipulated penalt ies sha ll accrue simultaneously for 

separate violations of this Consent Decree. 

36. Defendants shall pay any stipulated penalty within 30 Days of receiving the 

United States' written dema nd. 

37. The United State s may in the unrev iewable exe rcise of its d iscretion, reduce or 

waive stipulated penalties otherwi se due to it unde r this Co nsent Decree. 

38. Stipulated penalties shall contin ue to acc rue as provided in paragraph 34 duri ng 

any Dispute Resolution, but need not be paid unt il the following: 

a. if the dispute is reso lved by agreement of the Parties or by a dec ision of 

EPA that is not appea led to the Court, Defendants shall pay accrued penalties determin ed by 

EPA to be owed, together with Interest, to the United States within 30 Days of the effective date 

of the agreement or the receipt of EPA ' s deci sion or order. 
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b. if the dispute is appealed to the Court and the United States prevails in 

whole or in part, Defendants shall pay all accrued penalties determined by the Court to be owed, 

together with Interest, within 30 Days of receiving the Court's decision or order, except as 

provided in subparagraph c, below. 

c. if any Party appeals the District Court's decision, Defendants shall pay all 

accrued penalties determined by EPA to be owed, together with Interest, within 30 Days of 

receiving the final appellate court decision. 

39. Defendants shall pay stipulated penalties owing to the United States in the manner 

set forth and with the confirmation notices required by Paragraph 8 of Section IV (Civil Penalty), 

except that the transmina l letter shall state that the payment is for stipulated penalties and shall 

state for which violation(s) the penalties are being paid. 

40. If Defendants fail to pay stipulated penalties according to the terms of this 

Consent Decree, Defendants shall be liable for Interest on such penalties, as provided for in 

28 U.S.c. § 1961, accruing as of the date the United States sends a demand for payment of 

stipulated penalties under Paragraph 36 of this Consent Decree. Nothing in this Paragraph shall 

be construed to limit the United States from seeking any remedy otherwise provided by law for 

Defendants' failure to pay any stipulated penalties. 

41 . Subject to the provisions of Section XIII of this Consent Decree (Effect of 

Settlement), the stipulated penalties provided for in this Consent Decree shall be in addition to 

any other rights, remedies, or sanctions available to the United States for Defendants' violation 

of this Consent Decree or applicable law. Where a violation of this Consent Decree is also a 

violation of the Clean Air Act or its implementing regulations, Defendants shall be allowed a 
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credit, for any stipulated penalties paid , aga inst any statutory penalti es imposed for such 

violation. 

42. Defendants shall not deduct stipulated pena lties paid under this Section in 

ca lculating their respective federal income taxes. 

X. FORCE MAJEURE 

43. " Force majeure," for purposes of this Co nsent Decree , is defined as any event 

arising from causes beyond the control of Defendants, or any ent ity controlled by Defendants, or 

of Defendan ts' con tractors, that delays or prevents the performance of any obligation under this 

Consent Decree despite Defendants ' best efforts to fulfill the obligation. The req uirement that 

Defendants exercise " best efforts to fulfill the obligation" includes using best efforts to anticipate 

any potent ial force majeure event and best efforts to address the effects of any such eve nt (a) as it 

is occ urring, and (b) after it has occu rred to prevent or min imize any resulting delay to the 

greatest extent possible, "Force majeure" does not include Defendants' financial inability to 

perform any obligation under this Consen t Decree. 

44 . If any eve nt occurs or has occ urred that may delay the performance of any 

obligation under this Consent Decree, whethe r or not caused by a force majeure event, 

Defe ndan ts shall provide not ice orally or by electronic transmission to the United States , as 

prov ided in Section XV (Notices), within 72 hours of when Defendants first knew that the eve nt 

might cause a delay. Within seven Days thereafter, Defendants shall provid e written not ice, as 

provided in Section XV of this Co nsent Decree (Not ices), to EPA that provide s an explanation 

and description of the reasons for the delay; the antic ipated duration of the delay; all actio ns 

taken or to be taken to prevent or minimize the delay; a schedule for implementation of any 

measures to be taken to prevent or mitigate the delay or the effec t of the delay; Defendants' 
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rationale for attributing such delay to a force majeure event if it intends to assert such a claim; 

and a stateme nt as to whether, in the opinion of Defendants, such event may cause or contribute 

to an endangerment to public health, welfare or the environment. Defendants shall include with 

any notice all available documentation supporting the claim that the delay was attributable to a 

force majeure. Failure to comply with the above requirements shall preclude Defendants from 

asserting any claim of force majeure for that event for the period of time of such failure to 

comply, and for any additional delay caused by such failure. Defendants shall be deemed to 

know of any circumstance of which Defendants, any entity controlled by any Defendant, or 

Defendants' contractors knew or, through best efforts, should have known. 

45. If EPA agrees that the delay or anticipated delay is attributable to a force majeure 

event, the time for performance of the obligations under this Consent Decree that are affected by 

the force majeure event will be extended by EPA for such time as is necessary to comple te those 

obligations. A n extension of the time for performance of the obligations affected by the force 

majeure event shall not, of itself, extend the time for performance of any other obligat ion. EPA 

will notify Defendants in writing of the length of the extension, if any, for perfo rmance of the 

obligations affected by the force majeure event. 

46. If EPA does not agree that the delay or antic ipated delay has been or will be 

caused by a force majeure event, EPA will notify Defendants in writing of its decision. 

47. If Defendants elect to invoke the d ispute resolution procedures set forth in Section 

XI (Dispute Resolution), they shall do so no later than 15 Days after receipt of EPA's notice. In 

any such proceeding, Defendants shall have the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of 

the evidence that the delay or anticipated delay has been or will be caused by a force majeure 

event, that the duration of the delay or the extension sought was or will be warranted under the 
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circumstances, that best efforts were exerci sed to avoid and mitigate the effects of the delay, and 

that Defendants complied with the requirements of Paragraphs 43 and 44, above . If Defendants 

carry this burden , the delay at issue shall be deemed not to be a vio lation by Defendants of the 

affected obligation of this Consent Decree identified to EPA and the Court. 

XI. DISPUTE RESOL UTION 

48. Unless otherwise expressly provided for in this Consent Decree, the dispute 

resolution procedures of this Section shall be the exclusive mechanism to resolve disputes ar is ing 

under or with respect to this Consent Decree. Defendants' failure to seek reso lution of a dispute 

under this Section shall preclude Defendants from raising any such issue as a defense to an 

action by the United States to enforce any obligation of Defendants aris ing under this Decree. 

49. Informal Dispute Resolution. Disputes subject to Dispute Resolution under this 

Consent Decree shall, in the first instance, be the subject of informal negotiat ions between the 

Parties. The d ispute shall be considered to have arisen when Defendants send the United States a 

written Notice of Dispute. Such Notice of Dispute shall state clearly the matter in dispute and 

shall include supporting documentat ion . The period of informal negotiations shall not exceed 30 

Days from the date the dispute ar ises, unless that period is modified by written agreement. If the 

Parties cannot resolve a dispute by informal negotiations, then the position advanced by the 

United States shall be considered binding unless, within 30 Days after the conclusion of the 

informal negotiation period , Defendants invoke formal dispute resolut ion procedures as set forth 

below, 

50, Formal Dispute Resolution. Defendants shall invoke formal d ispute resolution 

procedures, within the time period provided in the preceding Paragraph of this Consent Decree, 

by serving on the United States a written Statement of Posit ion regarding the matter in dispute. 
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The Statement of Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or 

opinion supporting Defendants' position and any supporting documentation relied upon by 

Defendant. 

51. The United States shall serve its Statement of Position within 45 Days of receipt 

of Defendants' Statement of Position. The United States' Statement of Position shall include, 

but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or opinion supporting that position and any 

supporting documentation relied upon by the United States. The United States' Statement of 

Position shall be binding on Defendants, unless Defendants file a motion for judicial review of 

the dispute in accordance with the following Paragraph. 

52. Defendants may seek j udicial review of the dispute by filing with the Court and 

serving on the United States, in accordance with Section XV of this Consent Decree (Notices), a 

motion requesting judicial resolution of the dispute. The motion must be filed within 10 Days of 

receipt of the United States' Statement of Position pursuant to the preceding Paragraph. The 

motion shall contain a written statement of Defendants' position on the matter in dispute, 

including any supporting factual data, analysis, opinion, or documentation, and shall set forth the 

relief requested and any schedule within which the dispute must be resolved for orderly 

implementation of the Consent Decree. 

53. The United States shall respond to Defendants' motion within the time period 

allowed by the Local Rules of this Court. Defendants may file a reply memorandum, to the 

extent permitted by the Loca l Rules. 

54. Standard of Review. Except as otherwise provided in this Consent Decree, in any 

dispute subject to j udicial review under Paragraph 52, Defendan ts shall bear the burden of 

demonstrating that their position complies with this Consent Decree, that their position will 
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achieve com pliance with the terms and conditions of this Co nsent Decree and the Act in an 

expeditious manne r, and that imp lementat ion of their position will better further the objectives of 

this Consent Decree than would implementation of the United States' position. The United 

States reserve s the right to argue tha t its position is reviewable only on the administrat ive record 

and must be upheld unless arbitrary and capricious or otherw ise not in accordance with law. 

55. The invocat ion of dispute resolution procedures under this Section sha ll not, by 

itself, exte nd, postpone, or affect in any way any obli gat ion of Defendants under this Co nsent 

Decree , unless and until fina l reso lution of the dispute so provides. Stipulated penalties with 

respect to the d isputed matter sha ll continue to accrue from the first day of noncompliance, but 

payme nt shall be stayed pendin g reso lution of the dispute as provided in Paragraph 38. If 

Defend ants do not prevail on the disputed issue, st ipulated penalt ies shall be assessed and paid as 

prov ided in Section IX (Stipulated Penalties). 

XII. INFO RMATION COLLECTION AND RETENTION 

56. The United States and its auth orized representatives, including attorn eys, 

contractors, and consultants, sha ll have the right to enter into any of either Defendant' s faci lities 

pertaining to the requirements imposed unde r th is Co nsent Decree, at all reasonab le times, upon 

presentation of credentials, to: 

a. monitor the progress of activities required under this Con sent Decree; 

b. verify any data or information submitted to the United States in 

accordance with the terms of th is Consent Decree; 

c. inspect eng ines, vessels, or equi pment manufactured, or purchased by or 

on beha lf of Defendants; 

d. requ ire emiss ions testing; 
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e. obtain documentary evidence, including photographs and similar data ; and 

f. assess Defendants' compliance with this Consent Decree. 

5? Until five years after the termination of this Consent Decree, Defendants shall 

retain, and shall instruct their respective contractors and agents to retain all non-identical copies 

of all documents, records, data or other information (including documents, records, data or other 

information in electronic form) that relate to Defendants' performance of their obligations under 

this Consent Decree. This information-retention requirement shall apply regardless of any 

contrary corporate or institutional policies or procedures. At any time during this information­

retention period, upon request by the United States, Defendants shall provide copies of any 

documents, records, or other information required to be maintained under this Paragraph. 

58. Defendants may assert that certain documents, records, or other information 

requested by EPA pursuant to the preceding Paragraph is privileged under the attorney-client 

privilege or any other privilege recognized by federa l law. If Defendants assert such a privilege, 

they shall provide the following: (1) the title of the document, record, or information; (2) the 

date of the document, record, or information; (3) the name and title of each author of the 

document, record, or information; (4) the name and title of each addressee and recipient; (5) a 

description of the subject of the document, record, or information; and (6) the privilege asserted 

by Defendants. However, no documents, records, or other information created or generated 

pursuant to the requirements of this Consent Decree shall be withheld on grounds of privilege. 

59. Defendants may also assert that information required to be provided under this 

Section is protected as confidential business information ("CBI") under 40 C.F.R. Part 2. As to 

any information that Defendants seek to protect as CBI, the asserting Defendant shall follow the 

procedures set forth in 40 C.F.R. Part 2. 
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60. This Consent Decree in no way limits or affects any right of entry and inspection, 

or any right to obtain information, held by the United States pursuant to applicable federa l, state, 

or local laws, regu lations, or permits, nor does it limit or affect any duty or obligation of 

Defendants to maintain documents, records, or other information imposed by applicable federal, 

state, or local laws. regulations, or permits. 

XIII. EFFECT OF SETTLEMENT I RESERVATION OF RIGHTS 

61. This Consent Decree resolves the civi l cla ims of the United States for the 

violations alleged in the Complaint filed in this action through the date of lodging. 

62. The United States reserves any and all legal and equ itable remedies avai lable to 

enforce the provisions of th is Consent Decree. The United States reserves, and this Consent 

Decree shall not be construed to limit, the right of the United States to obtain penalties or 

injunctive rel ief under the Act or implementing regulations, or under other federa l laws, 

regu lations, or perm it conditions, except as expressly specified in Paragraph 61. 

63. In any subsequent administrative or j udicial proceed ing initiated by the United 

States against any Defendant for injunctive relief, civ il penalties, other appropriate relief, 

Defendants shall not assert, and may not maintain, any defense or cla im based upon the 

principles of waiver, res j udicata, collatera l estoppel, issue preclusion, cla im preclusion, claim­

splitt ing, or other defenses based upon any contention that the claims raised by the United States 

in the subsequent proceed ing were or should have been brought in the instant case, except with 

respect to claims that have been specifically resolved pursuant to Paragraph 6 1 of this Section. 

64. This Consent Decree is not a permit, or a modification of any perm it, under any 

federal, state, or local laws or regulations. Defendants are responsible for achieving and 

maintaining compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and 
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permits; and Defendants' compliance with this Consent Decree shall be no defense to any action 

commenced pursuant to any such laws, regulations, or permits, except as set forth herein. The 

United States does not, by its consent to the entry of this Consent Decree, warrant or aver in any 

manner that Defendants' compliance with any aspect of this Consent Decree will result in 

compliance with provisions of the Act, or with any other provisions of federal, state, or local 

laws, regulations, or permits. This Consent Decree does not resolve criminal liability, if any, that 

any person or entity might have for violations of the Act or any other law. 

65. This Consent Decree does not limit or affect the rights of Defendants against each 

other or against any third parties not a party to this Consent Decree, nor does it limit the rights of 

third parties not party to this Consent Decree, against Defendants, except as otherwise provided 

by law. 

66. This Consent Decree does not limit or affect the rights of the United States against 

any third parties not a party to this Consent Decree. 

67. This Consent Decree shall not be construed to create rights in, or grant any cause 

of action to, any third party not a party to this Consent Decree. 

XIV. COSTS 

68. The Parties shall bear their own costs of this action, including attorneys' fees, 

except that the United States shall be entitled to collect the costs (including attorneys' fees) 

incurred in any action necessary to enforce this Consent Decree, including any action to collect 

any portion of the civil penalty or any stipulated penalties due but not paid by Defendants. 
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XV. NOT ICES
 

69. Unless otherwise specified herein, whenever notifications, submissions or 

co mmunications are required by this Co nsent Decree they shall be made in writing and addressed 

as follows: 

To the United States: 
Chief, Environmental Enforceme nt Section 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
U.S. Departm ent of Justice 
P.O. Box 76 11 Ben Franklin Station 
Washin gton , D.C. 20044-76 11 
Re: 001 No. 90-5-2- 1-09942 

(However, any notifications permitted under this Decree to be made by oral correspondence or 
e lectronic transmis sion shall be di rected to : Telephone (202) 616-8907; or E-m ail 
roby n.hansomgjusdoj.gov) 

And 

Director, Air Enforcement Division 
Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance 
U.S. Env ironme ntal Protection Agency 
1200 Penn sylvania Ave., N.W. (2242A) 
Washington, D.C. 20460 

(However, any notifica tions permitted under this Decree to be made by ora l co rrespo ndence or 
e lectron ic tran smission sha ll be directed to: Telephone, (202) 510- 10 11; or E-mail 
adair Joce lyn@epa.gov) 

To EPA: 
Director, Air Enforcement Division 
O ffice of Enforcement and Compliance Ass urance 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
1200 Penn sy lvania Ave ., N.W . (2242A) 
Washington, D.C. 20460 

(However, any notifications permitted under this Decree to be made by oral corres ponde nce or 
e lectro nic transmis sion shall be d irected to: Teleph one, (202 ) 510- 10 I I ; or E-mail 
adair.j ocelyn@epa.gov) 
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To Defendants: 

To Defendant Cohec Industries Inc.: 

Robert S. McLean 
Vice President, Legal 
EnPro Industries Inc. 
5605 Carnegie Boulevard, Suite 500 
Charlotte, NC 28209-4674 
Robert .McLean@EnProlndustries.com 

To Defendant National Stee l and Shipbuilding Company: 

Matthew S. Luxton 
Vice President and General Counsel 
GD NASSC O 
2798 East Harbor Drive 
San Diego, CA 92113 
mluxtonrmnassco.com 

70. Any party to the Consent Decree may change its designated notice recipient or 

notice address by sending written notice to the other Parties setting forth the new information . 

71. Unless otherwise provided herein, reports, submissions, notifications to, or 

communications with the United States or Defendants shall be dee med submitted on the date 

they are sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. 

XVI. EFFECTIVE DAT E 

72. The Effective Date of this Consent Decree shall be the date upon which this 

Consent Decree is entered by the Court or a motion to enter the Consent Decree is granted, 

whicheve r occurs first, as recorded on the Court's docket; provided, however, that Defendants 

hereby agree that each shall be bound to perform duties scheduled to occur pr ior to the Effective 

Date. In the event the United States withdraws or withholds consent to this Consent Decree 
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before entry, or the Court declines to enter the Consent Decree, then the preceding requirement 

to perform duties scheduled to occur before the Effective Date shall terminate. 

XVII. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

73. The Court shall retain j urisdiction over this case until terminat ion of this Consent 

Decree, for the purpose of resolving disputes arising under this Decree or entering orders 

modifying this Decree, pursuant to Sections XI (Dispute Resolution) and XVIII (Modification), 

or effectuating or enforcing compliance with the terms of this Decree. 

XVIII. MODIFICATION 

74. The terms of this Consent Decree, including its attached appendices, may be 

modified only by a subsequent written agreement signed by all the Parties. Where the 

modification constitutes a materia l change to this Decree, it shall be effective only upon approva l 

by the Court. 

75. Any disputes concerning modificat ion of this Decree shall be resolved pursuant to 

Section XI of this Decree (Dispute Resolution), provided, however, that, instead of the burden of 

proof provided by Paragraph 54, the Party seeking the modification bears the burden of 

demonstrating that it is entitled to the requested modification in accordance with Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 60(b). 

XIX. TERMINATION 

76. After Defendants have completed the requirements of Sect ion V (Compliance 

Requirements) of this Decree, have complied with all other requirements of this Consent Decree, 

including those relat ing to the SEP required by Section VI of this Consent Decree (Supplemental 

Environmenta l Project), and have paid the civ il penalty and any accrued stipulated penalties as 

required by Sections IV (Civil Penalty) and IX (Stipulated Penalties) of this Consent Decree, 
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respecti vely, Defendants may, at any time after five years from the Effective Date of th is 

Consent Decree, se rve upon the United States a Request for Terminat ion, stating that Defendant 

has satisfied those requirements, together w ith all necessary supporting documentation . 

77. Following receipt by the United States of Defendant s' Request for Te rmination, 

the Part ies sha ll confer inform ally concern ing the Request and any d isagreement that the Parties 

may have as to whether Defendant s have satisfactorily complied with the requi rements for 

termination of this Consent Decree . The period of time for informal discussion of termination 

shall not exceed 60 Days, unless agreed by the Parties. If the Un ited States agrees that the 

Dec ree may be terminated, the United States shall submit, for the Co urt's approval, a joint 

motion to term inate the Decree. 

78. If the United States does not agre e that the Decree may be terminated, Defendant s 

may invoke Dispute Reso lution under Section XI (Dispute Resolution) of this Dec ree . However, 

Defendant s sha ll not invoke Dispute Resolu tion conce rning any dispute regarding termination 

under Section XI (Dispute Reso lution) until 120 Days after service of its Request for 

Te rmination. 

xx. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

79. This Consent Decree shall be lodged with the Co urt for a period of not less than 

30 Days for public notice and comm ent in accordance with 28 C.F.R. § 50 .7. The United States 

reserves the right to w ithdraw or withhold its consent if the comments regarding the Consent 

Decree d isclose facts or cons iderations indicating that the Consent Decree is inappropriate, 

improper, or inadequate. 

80. Defendants co nsent to entry of this Conse nt Decree without further notice and 

agree not to wit hdraw from or oppose entry of th is Consent Decree by the Court or to challenge 
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any provision of the Decree, unless the United States has not ified Defendants in writing that it no 

longer supports entry of the Decree. 

XXI. SIGNATORIES/SERVICE 

81. Each undersigned representative of Defendants, the United States Environmental 

Protect ion Agency, and the Assistant Attorney General for the Environment and Natural 

Resources Divis ion of the Department of Justice certifies that he or she is fully authorized to 

enter into the terms and conditions of this Consent Decree and to exec ute and legally bind the 

Party he or she represents to this document. 

82. Th is Consent Decree may be signed in counterparts, and its validity shall not be 

challenged on that basis. Defendants agree to accept service of process by mail with respect to 

all matte rs arising under or relating to this Consent Decree and to waive the formal service 

requirements set forth in Rules 4 and 5 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and any 

applicable Local Rules of this Court includ ing, but not limited to, service ofa summons. 

XXII. INTEGRATION 

83. Thi s Consent Decree const itutes the final, complete , and excl usive agreement and 

understandin g among the Parties with respect to the settlement embodied in the Decree and 

supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, whethe r oral or written , concern ing the 

sett lement embod ied herein . No other document , nor any representation, inducement, 

agreement, understand ing, or promise, constitutes any part of this Decree or the sett lement it 

represents, nor shall it be used in construing the terms of th is Decree. 

XXIII. FINAL JUDGMENT 

84. Upon approva l and entry of this Consent Decree by the Court, this Cons ent 

Decree shall constitute a final j udgment of the Court as to the United States and Defendant s. 
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XX IV. APPEN DICES
 

85. The follow ing appendices are attached to and incorporated into this Decree : 

"A ppendix A" is "Format of Labels for Engines Listed in Table 1 of Paragraph 12;" 

"Appendix B" is "Format of Labels for Engines Listed in Tab le 2 of Paragraph 12;" 

"Appendix C" is the "Supplemental Environm ental Project." 

SO ORDERED AN D APPROVED in accordance with the foregoing this _ _ day of 

TH E HONORAB LE AMY B. JACKSON 
United States District Judge 
U.S. District Court for the Distr ict of Co lumb ia 
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Signature Page to Consent Decree in: U. S. v. Coltec Industries Inc.! et al. 

FOR PLAINTIFF, UNITEII STATES OF AMERICA: 

Dated : _ 
W. BENJAMIN FISHEROW 
Acting Chief 
Environmental Enforcement Section 
Environmentand Natural Resources Division 
United States Department of Justice 

Dated : _ 
ROB YN E. HANSON 
Trial Attorney 
Environmental Enforcement Section 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
United States Department of Justice 
Ben Franklin Station 
P.O. Box 76 11 
Washington, DC 20044 ~761 l 

(202) 616-8907 
(202) 616-6584 (fax) 
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Signature Page to Consent Decree in: U. S. v. Coltee lndu.\'trie... ln c.! et al. 

PAMELA MA ZAKAS -
Dated :Z,! ');) (IL 

Acting Director 
Office of Civi l Enforcement 
Office o fEn f~e / nd Compliance Assurance 

r ot~enc y 

HILLIP A. B~ . OKS v 

Dated 3 / J.. //; ~--,-"" _ 
7 

Director, Air Eriforce ment Division 
Office of Civ il Enforcement 
Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance 
U.S. Environmental Protect ion Agency 

Attorney 
Air Enforcement Division 
Office of C ivil Enforcement 
Office of Enforcement and Co mpl iance Assurance 
U.S. Environmenta l Protection Agency 
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Si!:na turc Page to Consent Ot'cree in: U.s. I'. Col,~(· fn drl\ ,ri(' .\' fnc.! el al. 

F~ Il E F;: ~D A :'i T COl-TEe 1:'ill liSTRI ES. 17'i C.: 

Robert S. Mel.can 
Dated : 113i l/:L 

1 

Vice President. l egal 
Enl' ro Industries Inc. 
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Signat ure Page to Consent Decree in: U.S. v. Coltet: Indu.,·trie~; Inc.. et al. 

FO R DEFENDANT NATIONAL STEEL AND SIIIPBUILDING COMPAl'iY: 

Dated: 1/ 0.1 / l 01 <:-.­

Matthew S. Luxton 
Vice President and Genera l Counsel 
GO :-IASSCO 
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Appendix A to Consent Decree in: 
U.S. v. Cottec Industries Inc., et al. - Civil Action No. 1:lO-cv-01659-AB.J 

FORMAT OF LAB ELS FO R ENGINES LISTED IN TABLE 1 OF PARAGRAPH 12 

MAR INE ENGINE EMISSION CONTROL INFORMATION 
(FME LOGO) (MAN LOGO) 

MODEL YEAR [Insert Applicable Mode l Year, e.g., 2004 ) 
108.5 LITER S PER CY LINDER
 
FM-MAN MOD EL 48/60
 

PURSUANT TO THE CONSENT DECREE ENTERED IN United Slale s v. Coltec Industr ies, 
Inc. el aI., Civil Act ion No. I :1 0-cv-OI659-ABJ, THIS ENGINE COMPLIES WITH U.S. 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY REGULATIONS THAT APPLY TO MA RINE 
COMPRESSION IGNITION ENGINES. 

USEFUL LIFE OF ENGINE: 30,000 HOURS 
THIS ENGINE COMPLIES WITH U.S. EPA 40 CFR 
PART 94 NOx EMISSION STANDARD OF 12.9 g/Kw-hr 

TUN E UP SPECIFICATIONS : 
FUEL INJECTION NOZZLE POP PRESSURE SET TO 350 BAR 
EXHAUST VALVE LASH SET TO 0.9MM +O. IMM 
INTAKE VALVE LASH SET TO 0.2MM +1- 0.05MM 

THIS ENGIN E MUST BE OPERATED ONLY WITH DISTILLAT E DIESEL FUEL. 
MOD IFYING THE ENGINE TO OPERAT E ON RESIDUA L FUEL 
MA Y BE A VIOLATION OF FEDE RAL LAW SUBJECT TO CIVIL PENALTI ES. 

ENGINE APPLICATION: MARINE DIESEL ELECTRIC DRIVE 
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Appendix B to Consent Decree in: 
U.S. v. Cottec Industries Inc., et ul. - C ivil Ac tion No. 1:I O-c\-'· OI 659-AB J 

FO R~ IAT OF LA BELS FO R ENG INES LIST ED IN TA lILE 2 OF PARAGRAPH 12 

MARINE ENGINE EMISSION CONTROL INFORMATION 
[Insert FME LOGO] [Insert MAN LOGO] 

MODEL YEAR [Insert Appl icable Model Year, e.g., 2008 or 2009] 
108.5 LITERS PER CY LINDER 
FM-MAN MODEL 48 /60 
ENGINE FAMIL Y NAME [Insert Applicable Engine Fami ly Name, either: 

8Fl1MM I 08.COC (for Mode l Year 2008) or 9FBMN 108.COC (for Model Year 2009)] 

THIS ENGINE COM PLIES WITH U.S. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 
REGULAT IONS TH AT APPLY TO MARINE COMPRESSION IGNITION ENGINES. THIS 
LABEL IS APPLI ED PURSUANT TO TH E CONSENT DECREE ENTERED IN United States 
v. Cohee Industries. Inc. et aI., Civil Action No. I:IO·cv·O 1659·ABJ. 

USEFUL LIFE OF ENGINE: 30,000 HOURS 
THIS ENGINE COMPLIES WITH U.S. EPA 40 CFR 
PART 94 NOx EMISSION STANDARD OF 12.9 glKw-hr 

TUNE UP SPECIFICATIO NS: 
FUEL INJECTION NOZZLE POP PRESSURE SET TO 350 BAR 
EXIIAUST VALV E LASII SET TO 0.9MM +O. IMM 
INTAKE VALVE LASH SET TO 0.2MM +/- 0.05MM 

THIS ENGINE IS CERTIFIED FOR OPERATION ONL Y WITH 
DISTILLATE DIESEL FUEL. MODIFYING THE ENGINE TO 
OPERATE ON RESIDUAL FUEL MAY BE A VIOLATION 
OF FEDERAL LAW SUBJECT TO CIVIL PENALTIES. 

ENGINE APPLICATION: MARINE DIESEL ELECTR IC DRIVE 
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Appendix C to Consent Decree in: 

u.s. v. Cottec Industries lnc., et at. - Civil Action No. 1:IO-cv-OI659-AHJ 

SUPPLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECT
 

I. Project Overview and Purpose 

I . Defendants shall implement and co mplete a Supplementa l Environmental Project 
("SE P") in acco rdance with the terms, criteria, procedures, work plans, and time schedules set 
forth herein. 

2. This SEP involve s the additi on of a nitrogen oxide ("NO / ') control system 
capable of reducing NO x levels to the exhaus t stack connected to one test stand at FME' s Beloit, 
Wisconsin, engine manufactu ring facility ("FM E' s Beloit Facility") for the testing of Colt­
Pielstick PA6B STC (" PA6B") marin e diesel engines that is located at stack 52 1F at process 
P20/21 (OP Building) under Wisconsi n Department of Natural Resources perm it number 
I 54002970-P I0 (the "Engine Test Stand") . PA6B engines are large propul sion engines 
manufactu red for the Lock heed Martin Littoral Co mbat Ship (LCS) program and are so ld by 
FME for use in U.S. Navy ships. Defendants estimate the costs of such controls at $500 ,000. 

3. FME is, at present , the only U.S . company that manufactures marine diesel 
engines of such size and type. FME has represented to the United States that the proposed 
controls for the Engine Test Stand at FME' s Beloit Facility arc not required by any federal, state 
or local law or regulati on. Due to the uniq ue s ize of the PA6B engines and the nature of the 
Engine Test Stand, custom-designed and custom engineered air polluti on control technologies 
specific to the configurations of the Engine Tes t Stand are necessary to implement this project. 
The exact nature of the design, engineering, and operation of the air pollution cont rol 
technologies sha ll be developed and satisfactorily explain ed by Defendants in the three phases of 
SEP Co mpletion Reports, required under Section IV of this Append ix. 

4. Defendants shall install a Selectiv e Cata lytic Reduction ("SCR") sys tem on the 
Engine Test Stand for the emission reduction of NOx. As of the date of signing this Consent 
Decree, Defendants represent that they estimate that the air pollution contro ls installed pursuant 
to the SEP will reduce NOxe miss ions by at least 85% as demonstrated by the procedure 
descr ibed in Append ix C, Paragraph l Lb .vi. 

5. The purpose of the SEP is to secure significant environmental and public health 
protection and improvements that are not otherwise required by law. 

II. Description of the Engine Test Stand Before SEP Implementation 

6. Within 30 Days of the Effecti ve Date of this Co nsent Decree, and pursuant to the 
procedures set forth in Sect ion XV of th is Decree (Noti ces), Defendants sha ll submit to EPA the 
follow ing information concerning the Engine Test Stand where the SCR required by the SEP 
under this Decree will be installed and operated : 
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a.	 a drawing and full description of the Eng ine Test Stand and associated 
stack as of the Effective Date of the Co nsent Decree , including: the size, 
de sign, and operating capac ity; 

b.	 the frequency o f use or operat ion of the Eng ine Test Stand for the last 
th ree (3) years and the anticipated future frequency of use or operation of 
the Engine Test Stand due to known pendin g contracts for the product ion 
of PA6B engines; 

c.	 the actual annual amount of fue l usage for Process P20121 for the 
immediately preceding th ree calendar years prior to the Effective Date ; 

d.	 a description of any emi ssion control technology or dev ices ex ist ing on the 
Engine Test Stand. 

Ill . Eligible SEP Costs 

7. Eligib le SE P Cos ts are only those that are consistent with performing the SEP as 
described in th is Append ix and required under th is Decree. On ly Elig ible SEP Co sts may be 
accou nted for in any particular phase of the SEP. For purposes o f this Consent Decree, Eligible 
SEP Costs unde r any phase of the SE P exclude overhead, administrat ive expenses, legal fees, 
and costs that Defendants incur due to contrac tor oversight or for other employee time or salary 
att ributab le to the SEP; provided, however, that Elig ible SEP Costs may include certa in costs 
generated by in-house personnel who are regularly employed by FME and who, due to their 
un ique site-s pecific understand ing of FME' s Beloit Fac ility, are required to actively and 
concurrently work with outside consultants and ho ld the following j ob titles: Facilities and Plant 
Engineering; Product Enginee ring; Environmenta l, Hea lth, and Safety; Maintenance Fac ility 
Electr ician ; and Facilities Maintenance Mechanic. In any event, the reco rded hourly cos t of such 
FME employees who work on the SEP shall accoun t for no more than 15% of the total Eligible 
SEP Costs; any amount in excess are ineligible SEP costs . FME sha ll use its customary time­
keep ing system to report the amount of time that employees work on the SE P and shall submit, 
as part of Defendants' Annual SEP Reports and Phase I SEP, Phase II SEP, or Phase III SEP 
Co mpletion Reports, the cost of any recorded emp loyee time that Defendants deem qua lify as an 
Eligible SEr Co st. 

IV. Phased Implem entation of the SEP 

8. The SEP shall be implemented in three phases to bring the proj ect to " Fully 
Operationa l SC R Stat us:' Th e SEP achieves "Fully Operat ional SC R Status" on the date that the 
fina l emissions testing occurs, as specified under the requirements of the Phase 111 SEP 
Com pletion Report descr ibed in Paragraph II of this Appendix. 

9. Phase I SE P. Phase I of the SE P (" Phase I SE P"') shall consist of pre liminary 
projec t design and contractor selection. Phase I SE P begins on the Effec tive Date of this Decree 
and lasts for no more than twelve (12 ) months after the Effec tive Date. 

a.	 Phase I SEP shall include: 
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I.	 the preliminary scope of and engineering design for the SEP ; 

11 . an eva luation of the projected enviro nmenta l and public health benefit s 
of the SEP, inc luding but not limited to est imated levels of NOx 
emissions reduct ions; 

iii.	 project bid specification and development; 

I V.	 contractor selection for imp lementation of the SEP. 

b.	 No later than the deadl ine for completion of Phase I SEP provi ded for 
under th is Paragraph, Defendants shall submit to EPA a Phase I SEP 
Co mplet ion Report for EPA review and approval, as set forth in Paragraph 
12 of this Appendix, before proceeding with Phase II SEP, described in 
Paragraph 10 of this Appendix . Defendants sha ll submit the Phase I SEP 
Complet ion Report to EPA pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 
XV of th is Dec ree (Notices) and such report shall contain the following 
information: 

I.	 a deta iled description of the prelim inary scope of and engineering 
design for the SEP; 

I I. information on the projected env ironmental and public health benefits 
of the SEP, including but not lim ited to estimated leve ls of NOx 
emissions reductions; 

iii.	 a summary of bid specification and development efforts, including 
information about requests for proposals; 

I V.	 the se lected contractor for imp lementation of the SEP; 

v.	 an accounting of all desig n and engineering costs to date that qua lify as 
Eligible SEP Costs; 

VI.	 a detailed descr iption of any prob lems encountered duri ng Phase I SEP 
and so lutions thereto ; 

VII.	 a detailed descript ion of any antici pated problems for Phase II SEP and 
measures taken to address such anticipated problems; 

viii. the estimated dates for co mpleting production and beginning 
installation of the SCR. 

10. Phase II SEP. Phase II of the SEP ("Phase II SEP") shall consist of detailed 
eng ineer ing and production mea sures requ ired for implementing the SE P. Phase II SEP beg ins 
on the date of EPA's approva l of the Phase I SEP Co mpletio n Report and lasts for no more than 
twelve ( 12) months. 
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a.	 Phase II SEP shall include: 

i.	 a detailed engineering and design process for the SEP, inclusive of 
finalizing site-specific SCR control design and drawings; 

I I. procurement efforts and the production process for the SCR, including 
the actual period of production of the SCR; 

b.	 No later than the deadline for completion of Phase II SEP provided for 
under this Paragraph , Defendants shall submit to EPA a Phase II SEP 
Completion Report for review and EPA approval, as set forth in Paragraph 
12 of this Appendix, before proceeding with Phase III SEP, described in 
Paragraph 11 of this Appendix . Defendants shall submit the Phase II SEP 
Completion Report to EPA pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 
XV of this Decree (Notices) and such report shall contain the following 
informat ion: 

l.	 a reference copy of the El'A capprovcd Phase I SEP Completion Report; 

II.	 a detailed description of the engineering and design for the SEP, 
inclusive of site-specific SCR control design and final draw ings; 

11 1. an accounting of engineering and SCR production costs that qualify as 
Eligible SEP Costs; 

iv.	 a description of the procurement efforts and the production process for 
the SCR, including the actual production dates for the SCR; 

v.	 a detailed description of any problems encountered during Phase II SEP 
and solutions thereto; 

VI.	 a detai led description of any anticipated problems for Phase III SEP and 
measures taken to address such anticipated problems; 

vii.	 an overview of the expected SCR installat ion process and an estimated 
date for completing installation of the SCR; 

viii. an estimated date for implementing the SEP and bringing the SCR to 
Fully Operational SCR Status. 

11. The Phase III SEP. Phase III of the SEP ("Phase III SEP" ) shall consist of the 
final phase of the SEP and include all remaining efforts to bring the SCR to Fully Operational 
SCR Status. Phase III SEP shall begin on the date of EPA's approval of the Phase II SEP 
Completion Report and last for no more than six (6) months. 

a.	 Phase III SEP shall include: 

I.	 the SCR installation process on the Beloit Facility ' s Engine Test Stand; 
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ii.	 start-up testing or troubleshooting of the SCR; provided, however, that 
ifno PA6B eng ine is avai lable for testing between the date ofSCR 
installation and the end date for Phase III SEP , Defendants may 
de monstrate such engine unavailabil ity to EPA and reque st an 
extension to the deadlin e for Phase III SEP for good cause shown, as 
provi ded under Paragraph 14; 

Il l.	 final NO " emissions testing, ca lculating the emissions at the Engine 
Test Stand with an installed PA6B engine (or an engine of s imilar 
eng ineering design to the PA6B engine that is compatible with the SCR 
and the Engine Test Stand with only minor mod ifications thereto) and 
the SCR disab led and enab led to ident ify the percent reduction of NO" 
attrib utab le to the operation of the SCR, all other factors being equal; 
provided, however , that ifno PA6B engine is ava ilable for test ing 
between the date of SCR installa tion and the end date for Phase III 
SEP, Defendants may dem onstrate such engine unavailability to EPA 
and request an extension to the dead line for the Phase III SEP for good 
cause shown, as prov ided under Paragraph 14; 

I V .	 an ana lys is of the environmenta l and publ ic health bene fits resulting 
from imp leme ntat ion of the SEP (w ith qua nt ificatio n of the bene fits and 
pollution reduct ions, if feasib le); 

v.	 the undertakin g of any add itional measures deemed necessary to 
achieve impleme ntation of the SEP and bring the SCR to Fully 
Operationa l SCR Status. 

b.	 No later than the deadline for completio n of Phase III SEP provided for 
under this Paragraph Defendants sha ll submit to EPA a Phase 111 SEP 
Completion Report for review and EPA approval, as set forth in Paragraph 
12 of this Appendix . Defendants shall submit the Phase 111 SEP 
Completion Report to EPA pursuant to the procedures set forth in Secti on 
XV of this Dec ree (Noti ces) and such report shall contain the followin g 
information: 

I.	 reference copies of the EPA-approved Phase I and Phase II SEP 
Co mpletion Reports; 

11.	 a detai led description of any problems encountered in comp leting Phase 
111 SEP and solutions thereto; 

11 1. a desc ript ion of the SCR insta llat ion process on the Be loit Facility' s 
Engine Test Stand and date that such installation was comp leted, 
includ ing a description of any problems encountered in completing 
installation of the SCR and solutions thereto; 

iv.	 the result s of start-up test ing or troubleshooting of the SCR; provided, 
however, that ifno PA6B engine is ava ilable for testing between the 
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date of SCR installation and the due date for the Phase III SEP 
Completion Report, Defendants may state such, provide EPA with the 
status of any pending or approved Phase III SEP extension request, and 
provide an estimated submission date for reporting the results of start­
up testing or troubleshooting of the SCR; 

v.	 the date that the final emissions testing actually occurred, which is also 
the date the SCR achieves Fully Operational Status; provided, however, 
that if no PA6B engine is available for testing between the date of SCR 
installation and the due date for the Phase III SEP Completion Report, 
Defendants may state such, report that final emissions testing has not 
yet occurred, provide EPA with the status of any pending or approved 
Phase III SEP extension request, and provide an estimated date for final 
emissions testing of the SCR; 

vi.	 the results of final NOxemissions testing, quantifying the emissions at 
the Engine Test Stand with the SCR disabled and enabled to identify 
the percent reduction of NOxattributable to the operation of the SCR, 
all other factors being equal; provided, however, that if no PA6B 
engine is availa ble for testing between the date of SCR installation and 
the due date for the Phase III SEP Completion Report, Defendants may 
state such, report that final emissions testing has not yet occurred, and 
provide EPA with the status of any pending or approved Phase III 
extension request; 

vii.	 a description of the environmental and public health benefits resulting 
from implementation of the SEP (with quantification of the benefits and 
pollution reductions, if feasible); 

viii. an itemized list of all SEP costs that Defendants have classified as 
Eligible SEP Costs, organized by category (e.g . design and engineering 
costs, eligible employee costs, material costs, product ion and 
installat ion costs); 

IX .	 cert ification that the SEP has been designed, produced, and installed on 
the Engine Test Stand pursuant to.the provisions of this Consent 
Decree. 

12.	 EPA Approval of Phased Completion Reports. 

a.	 Upon receipt of the Phase I SEP Completion Report, the Phase II SEP 
Completion Report, and the Phase III SEP Completion Report, EPA will 
review the submitted report and notify Defendants in writing, pursuant to 
the procedures set forth in Section XV of this Decree (Not ices), whether 
EPA approves the submitted report. EPA may disapprove the submitted 
report if EPA determines that the submitted report does not achieve part or 

C-6 



all of the requirements for implementation of the respective phase of the 
SEP, as set forth in this Appendix. 

b.	 (f EPA disapproves the submitted Phase I SEP Completion Report, Phase 
II SEP Completion Report, or Phase III 5E P Completion Report, EPA will 
specify the reason(s) that EPA rejects the report as submitted. Defendants 
shall have 30 Days to submit a revised version of the SEP Completion 
Report at issue. 

13. EPA may, in its so le discretion. require information in addition to that described 
in Paragraphs 9. 10, or 11, in order to evaluate Defendants' Phase I SEP Completion Report , 
Phase II SEP Completion Report, or Phase III SEP Completion Report, respectively. 

14. EPA may extend any due date for completion of any phase of SEP upon 
Defendants written request to EPA for good cause shown pursuant to the procedures set forth in 
Sect ion XV of this Decree (Notices). Informal dispute resolution under Section XI (Dispute 
Resolution) is not available with respect to EPA's finding of good cause shown. 

V,	 Annua l SF.P Reports a nd Fina l SE P Report 

15. Beginning with the calendar yea r that Defendants submit the Phase III 5EP 
Comple tion Report and continuing on an annual basis until the calendar year when Defendants 
achieve Satisfactory Completion of the 5EP. as described in Sect ion VI of this Append ix, which 
is achieved on the date that EPA notifies Defendants of Satisfactory Completion pursuant to 
Paragraph 16 of this Consent Decree, Defendants shall submit to EPA written Annual SEP 
Reports regarding performance of the 5EP during the preceding calendar year. Annua l5EP 
Reports shall include a description of the operation of the 5CR certifying its operation during the 
entire duration of the operation of the Engine Test Stand in accordance with the requirements of 
the 5E P, or, alternatively. ce rtifying operation of modified and improved emissions control 
technologies permi tted under Paragraph l7(d) of this Appendix. Should Defendants fail to 
operate or otherwise cease operation of the SCR during the operation of the Engine Test Stand, 
such actions shall be identified and explained in the respective Annual 5EP Report. 
Alternatively, should Defendants mod ify or replace the SCR as permitted under Paragraph 17(d) 
of this Appendix , such actions shall be identified and explained in the respective Annual SEP 
Report and any operation or failure to operate any such modifications or replacements to the 
5CR should also be identified and explained. 

16. Final SEP Report. Upon Defendants' determination that they have achieved 
Satisfactory Completion of the SEP in accordance with the requ irements of this Consent Decree, 
as set forth in Section VI of this Appendix, Defendants shall submit to EPA. pursuant to the 
procedures set forth in Section XV of this Decree (Notices), a written Final SEP Report, pursuant 
to Paragraph 16 of this Consent Decree, demonstrating the achievement of all clements of 
Satisfactory Completion. EPA will review the Final SEP Report and notify Defendants whether 
or not EPA agrees with Defendants ' determination, pursuant to Paragraph 16 of this Consent 
Decree. 
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VI. Sat isfactory Co mpletion of the SEP 

17. Defendants are responsible for the Satisfactory Completion of the SEP in 
accordance with the requirements of this Consent Decree. "Satisfactory Completion" of the SEP 
means that Defendants shall: 

a. design, construct, and install the add-on air pollution controls to the 
Engine Test Stand as set forth in the three phases of the SEP and as 
submitted to EPA in the Phase I SEP Completion Report, the Phase II SEP 
Completion Report, and the Phase III SEP Completion Report ; 

b. ensure that the air pollution control measures required by the SEP achieve 
Fully Operational SCR Status as provided for by the implementation of 
each phase of the SEP; 

c. demonstrate that the air pollution control measures functionally reduce 
NOx emissions by a minimum of 85% at the Engine Test Stand as 
demonstrated by the procedure described in Appendix C, Paragraph 
ll .b.vi; and 

d. operate the SCR in accordance with this Appendix from the date the SCR 
achieves Fully Operational SCR Status for either a period of five years or, 
alternatively, for the entire duration of the operation of the Engine Test 
Stand provided the test stand continues to be needed and used to test 
PA6B engines (or engines of similar engineering design to the PA68 
engines that are compatible with the SCR and the Engine Test Stand with 
only minor modifications thereto) whichever period of operational time is 
less. 

I .	 The operation of the SCR on the Engine Test Stand in accordance with 
this Appendix does not preclude Defendants from making changes to or 
replacing components of the SCR to accommodate technological 
advances and achieve improved emissions controls resulting in equal or 
greater emissions reductions than those achieved by the SCR required 
under this Appendix, including but not limited to, modifications for 
improved or more efficient engine testing equipment or methods, 
add itional or improved emissions control equipment or technology, 
improved energy efficiency, or improved safety; provided, however, 
that the same limitat ions regarding Defendants ' use of any emissions 
reductions generated as a resu lt of the SCR required under this SEP, as 
set forth in this Consent Decree, shall equally apply to any replaced or 
improved emission control technologies or other permitted 
modifications to the SCR under this subparagraph. 

ii .	 Should Defendants determine that making changes (0 or replacing 
components of the SCR in accordance with subparagraph (d)(i) of this 
Appendix, immediately above, is warranted, Defendants shall notify 
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EPA of the full project description and prel iminary design for such 
modification(s), pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section XV of 
this Decree (Notices), no later than the date that Defendants send out a 
solicitation for potential contractors for implementing such 
modification(s). EPA will notify Defendants within 60 Days of receipt 
of such notification whether EPA agrees that such is a permissible 
modification under subparagraph (d)(i) of this Appendix. 
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